Entrepreneurship for Green Rural Destinations Handbook

Practical guidelines for using the E4GreenRD modules



This document has been developed as part of the Erasmus project *Entrepreneurship for Green Rural Destinations*. All six partner institutions collaborated on and contributed to the creation of this document.



Project Coordinator, Fagskolen Rogaland, Norway



Polygonal North oy, Finland



Perifereiako Gymnasio Agias Varvaras, Cyprus



Cankaya Ilce Milli Egitim Mudurlugu, Turkey



Escola Secundária Cacilhas-Tejo, Portugal



Limerick and Clare Education and Training Board, Ireland

June 2025

Co-funded by the European Union. Views and opinions expressed are however those of the author(s) only and do not necessarily reflect those of the European Union or the European Education and Culture Executive Agency (EACEA).

Neither the European Union nor EACEA can be held responsible for them.



Table of contents

1. Introduction	6
Purpose of the E4GRD Handbook	
Target Users	
How to Use this E4GRD E4GRD Handbook	
2. Project Overview	
·	
Background and Rationale	
Project Objectives	
Partnership and Stakeholders	
3. Framework for Green Rural Entrepreneurship	9
Pedagogical Principles	9
Competences and Skills for Green Entrepreneurship	10
Interdisciplinary and Inclusive Approaches	10
4. Module Design and Structure	11
Guidelines for Module Development	11
Template for Module Creation	
Assessment and Evaluation Methods	
5. Core Modules	11
Module 1: Inclusiveness and Diversity	12
Module 2: Mental Health and Well-being Tourism	
Module 3: Entrepreneurial Mindset & Skills	
Module 4: Marketing	
Module 5: Food Tourism	
Module 6: Digital Skills	
6. How to Use the E4GreenRD Modules	
7. Case Studies and Best Practices	15
European Examples of Green Rural Entrepreneurship	15
Local Success Stories from Partner Regions	15
8. Practical Resources	16
Toolkits and Checklists	16
Digital Tools and Platforms	16
Additional Reading and References	
9. Implementation Guidelines	17

Integrating Modules into VET Curricula	17
Facilitating Learner Engagement	17
Monitoring and Evaluation	18
10. Dissemination and Outreach	18
Strategies for Sharing Results	18
Building Networks and Partnerships	
Sustainability and Long-term Impact	19



1. Introduction

Rural entrepreneurship in Europe is marked by a diverse range of activities, from agriculture and food tourism to digital innovation and health-related services. While many rural areas face challenges such as limited infrastructure, depopulation, and restricted access to markets and resources, there is also significant potential for green innovation, sustainable tourism, and eco-conscious business development.

The E4GRD state-of-the-art review points to major opportunities: the growing demand for sustainable products and tourism, increased EU and national policy support for green transition, and the potential for interdisciplinary approaches that combine digital skills, marketing, and well-being. Addressing these challenges through innovative VET modules and targeted support can unlock the untapped potential of rural areas, fostering resilient, inclusive, and environmentally conscious entrepreneurship.

The review also revealed key gaps in VET for rural entrepreneurship, especially in green and sustainable development. Many programs lack content on sustainable models, digital skills, and innovation, and often miss interdisciplinary links with tourism, health, marketing, and environmental management. They also fail to meet the needs of marginalized groups or support soft skills like resilience and collaboration. These shortcomings highlight the need for updated, inclusive, and flexible training - like the modules developed in this project - to better prepare rural entrepreneurs for a changing economy.



Purpose of the E4GRD¹ Handbook

This E4GRD Handbook has been developed to serve as a comprehensive, practical resource for advancing sustainable entrepreneurship in rural areas, with a particular focus on green and inclusive practices. Its aim is to bridge gaps in VET² by providing evidence-based methodologies, case studies, and actionable tools that support the creation and growth of resilient rural businesses. By synthesizing the latest research, best practices, and innovative pedagogical approaches, the E4GRD Handbook empowers educators, trainers, and rural stakeholders to foster entrepreneurial mindsets and skills that contribute to economic development, environmental stewardship, and social inclusion.

Target Users

This E4GRD Handbook is designed for a diverse audience involved in rural entrepreneurship and education. Primary users include VET educators, trainers, curriculum developers, and policy-makers seeking to enrich their programs with up-to-date, relevant content on green entrepreneurship. It is also highly relevant for aspiring and existing rural entrepreneurs, local development agencies, community leaders, and organizations supporting sustainable rural development. By addressing a wide range of users, the E4GRD Handbook ensures that its guidance and resources are adaptable to various educational settings, business contexts, and rural realities across Europe.

How to Use this E4GRD E4GRD Handbook

The E4GRD Handbook is structured to be both accessible and flexible, allowing users to navigate sections according to their specific interests and needs. Each chapter provides clear guidelines, practical examples, and step-by-step instructions for implementing entrepreneurial education and activities in rural contexts. Users are encouraged to draw on the case studies, templates, and digital resources provided, adapting them to their local circumstances. The E4GRD Handbook can be used as a separate reference, integrated into existing VET curricula, or as the foundation for new training programs and community initiatives. Regular updates and digital supplements will ensure continued relevance and support for users as rural entrepreneurship evolves.

¹ Entrepreneurship for Green Rural Destinations

² Vocational Education and Training

2. Project Overview

Background and Rationale

Rural areas across Europe face persistent challenges such as limited infrastructure, depopulation, and restricted access to educational and economic opportunities. At the same time, these regions possess significant untapped potential for green innovation, sustainable tourism, and eco-conscious entrepreneurship. However, negative stereotypes, skill gaps, and insufficient support structures often hinder rural entrepreneurship. The rationale for this project stems from the need to bridge these gaps by equipping rural communities, educators, and learners with modern, relevant skills and knowledge that foster sustainable economic growth, social inclusion, and environmental stewardship. By developing targeted VET resources, the project aims to empower rural actors to transform challenges into opportunities and contribute to the broader European goals of green transition and rural revitalization.



Project Objectives

The main objectives of the project are to develop and implement innovative VET modules and resources that promote sustainable entrepreneurship in rural areas, with a particular focus on green and inclusive practices. Specifically, the project seeks to:

- Conduct a state-of-the-art review to map current approaches, challenges, and gaps in rural entrepreneurship and VET.
- Design a flexible, interdisciplinary framework and practical guidelines for teaching entrepreneurship in green rural destinations.

- Create and pilot new curricula and modules addressing key themes such as sustainable business models, digital skills, food and health tourism, marketing, and inclusiveness.
- Foster cross-border collaboration and knowledge exchange among educators, trainers, and rural stakeholders.
- Ensure the sustainability and broad dissemination of project results, supporting long-term capacity building and impact at local, regional, and European levels.

Partnership and Stakeholders

The project brings together a diverse consortium of partners from Norway, Finland, Cyprus, Turkey, Portugal, and Ireland, each contributing unique expertise and perspectives. The partnership includes vocational colleges, secondary schools, public authorities, and private enterprises, ensuring a comprehensive approach to both educational and practical aspects of rural entrepreneurship. Each partner leads or contributes to specific work packages according to their strengths—ranging from project management and research to module development, digital tools, and dissemination. This collaborative structure not only enriches the project's outputs but also promotes mutual learning, intercultural understanding, and the creation of a strong European network for green rural entrepreneurship. Key stakeholders include VET educators, rural entrepreneurs, community leaders, policy-makers, and marginalized groups, all of whom are actively engaged in project activities and benefit from its outcomes.

3. Framework for Green Rural Entrepreneurship

The framework for green rural entrepreneurship provides the structural and pedagogical foundation for developing, delivering, and sustaining entrepreneurial education tailored to the unique needs and opportunities of rural areas. It integrates evidence-based practices, cross-sectoral insights, and a strong commitment to sustainability and inclusiveness. This framework ensures that all modules and learning resources are aligned with both local realities and wider European priorities for green transition, rural revitalization, and social cohesion.

Pedagogical Principles

The pedagogical approach is grounded in learner-centered, experiential, and problem-based learning. Emphasis is placed on active participation, critical thinking, and real-world application, allowing learners to engage directly with the challenges and opportunities of rural entrepreneurship. The principles also prioritize inclusiveness, ensuring that teaching methods are accessible to diverse

groups, including those with special educational needs or from marginalized backgrounds. The framework encourages the integration of digital tools, blended learning, and community engagement to enhance both the reach and relevance of the educational offer.

Competences and Skills for Green Entrepreneurship

Key competences targeted by the framework include sustainable business development, digital literacy, financial management, marketing, and leadership. Special focus is given to skills that support environmental stewardship - such as resource efficiency, circular economy practices, and green innovation as well as transversal skills like problem-solving, adaptability, collaboration, and intercultural communication. The framework also addresses personal attributes vital for rural entrepreneurs, including resilience, self-efficacy, and a growth mindset, ensuring that learners are well-equipped to navigate the complexities of rural business environments.

Interdisciplinary and Inclusive Approaches

Recognizing the multifaceted nature of rural entrepreneurship, the framework promotes interdisciplinary learning by integrating content from areas such as agriculture, tourism, health, digital technology, and social innovation. Modules are designed to encourage collaboration across sectors and disciplines, fostering holistic understanding and creative problem-solving. Inclusiveness is embedded throughout the framework materials and activities are adapted for diverse learning needs, and special attention is given to gender equality, cultural diversity, and the participation of underrepresented groups. This approach not only enriches the learning experience but also ensures that green rural entrepreneurship is accessible and beneficial to all members of rural communities.



4. Module Design and Structure

Guidelines for Module Development

Clear guidelines ensure that all modules are designed with coherence, relevance, and adaptability in mind. These guidelines outline the pedagogical principles to be followed such as learner-centered, experiential, and inclusive approaches and specify the integration of green and sustainable entrepreneurship themes throughout the content. They also address the importance of aligning modules with identified VET gaps, local rural contexts, and the needs of diverse learners, including marginalized groups. The guidelines encourage the use of real-world examples, digital tools, and interdisciplinary content to make learning practical and engaging.

Template for Module Creation

A standardized template provides a consistent structure for developing each module, making it easier for educators to implement and adapt them across different settings. The template typically includes sections such as module title, learning objectives, target audience, key competences, content overview, teaching methods, required resources, assessment strategies, and references to case studies or best practices. This structured approach ensures clarity, comparability, and ease of use, while allowing for flexibility to address specific rural or thematic needs.

Assessment and Evaluation Methods

Effective assessment and evaluation methods are essential for measuring both learner progress and the overall impact of each module. These methods may include formative and summative assessments, self-reflection activities, practical assignments, peer reviews, and feedback from trainers and stakeholders. The approach emphasizes not only knowledge acquisition but also the development of entrepreneurial skills, critical thinking, and real-world problem-solving abilities. Evaluation tools are designed to be inclusive and adaptable, ensuring that all learners can demonstrate their achievements and that modules can be continuously improved based on feedback and outcomes.

5. Core Modules

Below is a short description for each of the six core modules proposed for the "Entrepreneurship for Green Rural Destinations" Handbook, based on the project application and best practices in VET curriculum design.

Module 1: Inclusiveness and Diversity

This module focuses on fostering inclusive and diverse rural enterprises by addressing barriers faced by underrepresented groups, such as women, migrants, people with disabilities, and older adults. Learners will examine inclusive business practices, anti-discrimination strategies, and approaches to creating accessible products and services. The module encourages the development of entrepreneurial solutions that promote social equity and community participation.

These modules are designed to be practical, adaptable, and relevant to the realities of rural Europe, supporting the project's aim of empowering educators, learners, and entrepreneurs with the knowledge and skills needed for sustainable, inclusive rural development.

Module 2: Mental Health and Well-being Tourism

Recognizing the unique challenges faced by rural entrepreneurs, this module addresses mental health, resilience, and well-being. It provides tools for stress management, work-life balance, and building supportive networks. The module also covers the role of entrepreneurship in promoting community well-being and includes case studies of initiatives that support mental health in rural business environments.

Module 3: Entrepreneurial Mindset & Skills

This module introduces learners to the principles and practices of sustainable business in rural settings. It covers topics such as circular economy, resource efficiency, ethical supply chains, and the integration of environmental and social values into business planning. Learners will explore real-world examples of successful green businesses and develop the skills to design and implement business models that balance profitability with positive environmental and community impact.

Module 4: Marketing

Learners are introduced to modern marketing strategies tailored for rural and green businesses, including branding, storytelling, customer engagement, and the use of digital channels. The module highlights the importance of authenticity, sustainability, and community values in building a strong brand identity. Practical exercises guide participants in developing marketing plans and green branding strategies for their own or simulated rural enterprises.

Module 5: Food Tourism

This module explores the growing sectors of food and health tourism as opportunities for rural entrepreneurship. Learners will study the development of local food experiences, wellness tourism, and the promotion of rural destinations through gastronomy and health-related activities. The module includes practical guidance on product development, marketing, and collaboration with local stakeholders to create unique, sustainable tourism offerings.

Module 6: Digital Skills

Focusing on the digital transformation of rural enterprises, this module equips learners with essential digital competencies, including e-commerce, digital marketing, social media management, and the use of digital tools for business operations. Special emphasis is placed on overcoming digital divides in rural areas and leveraging technology to access new markets, improve efficiency, and foster innovation.

6. How to Use the E4GreenRD Modules

The E4GreenRD modules are designed for both group instruction and individual learning, with flexible pacing and adaptable content. They support educators in delivering engaging, real-world training and empower learners to develop skills for sustainable, inclusive rural entrepreneurship at their own pace and according to their needs



FLEXIBLE LEARNING FORMATS		
For Educators and Trainers	Each module can be delivered as a structured course or integrated into existing vocational education and training (VET) programs. Educators are encouraged to use the suggested duration as a guideline but can adapt sessions to fit classroom schedules, workshops, or blended learning environments.	
For Individual Learners	Modules are suitable for self-paced study. Learners can progress through the content at their own speed, revisiting sections as needed and using reflection questions, quizzes, and practical tasks to deepen understanding.	
MODULAR AND ADAPTABLE CONTENT		
Standalone or Combined	Each module is self-contained and can be completed independently, but they are designed to complement each other. Learners or educators may choose to complete all modules for a comprehensive overview or focus on those most relevant to their interests or professional needs.	
Customizable Activities	Modules include a mix of theory, real-life case studies, hands-on exercises, and reflective questions. Educators can select or adapt activities to suit the group's background, local context, or specific learning objectives.	
LEARNING PATHWAYS AND PACING		
Suggested Duration	While each module provides a recommended timeline, learners are encouraged to proceed at their own pace. This flexible approach supports both intensive short courses and extended study, accommodating different learning preferences and schedules.	
Blended and Social Learning	Modules can be used in flipped classroom models, with learners reviewing materials independently and then participating in group discussions, workshops, or collaborative projects to reinforce learning.	
ASSESSMENT AND CERTIFICATION		
Knowledge Checks	Each module includes quizzes, self-assessment tools, or practical assignments to help learners track their progress and consolidate new skills.	
Certification	Upon successful completion of a module, learners may receive a certificate, which can be used to demonstrate new competencies in rural entrepreneurship and sustainable tourism	
SUPPORT AND RE	CSOURCES	
Guidance for Educators	Modules provide clear learning objectives, outcomes, and facilitator notes where relevant. Educators are encouraged to foster discussion, peer learning, and real-world application through group projects and community engagement.	
Additional Resources	Each module includes links to further reading, digital tools, and case studies to support deeper exploration and practical implementation.	

7. Case Studies and Best Practices

European Examples of Green Rural Entrepreneurship

This section presents a curated selection of case studies from across Europe that exemplify successful green rural entrepreneurship. These examples highlight innovative business models, sustainable practices, and the integration of environmental, social, and economic goals in rural enterprises. The case studies are chosen to reflect a variety of sectors such as sustainable agriculture, eco-tourism, renewable energy, and circular economy initiatives demonstrating how rural entrepreneurs are responding to contemporary challenges and opportunities. Each case study includes background information, key success factors, challenges faced, and lessons learned, providing practical inspiration and transferable strategies for learners and educators.

Local Success Stories from Partner Regions

Showcasing the diversity and richness of rural entrepreneurship within the project partnership, this section features local success stories contributed by each partner region. These stories illustrate how rural entrepreneurs have leveraged local resources, traditions, and networks to create sustainable businesses that benefit their communities and the environment. The success stories cover a range of themes—from digital innovation in remote areas to inclusive business models supporting marginalized groups—and emphasize the importance of adaptability, collaboration, and community engagement. By sharing these real-life experiences, the E4GRD Handbook aims to foster peer learning, celebrate local achievements, and encourage the replication of best practices across different rural contexts.



8. Practical Resources

Toolkits and Checklists

This section provides practical, ready-to-use resources that support both educators and learners in applying the concepts and methodologies presented throughout the E4GRD Handbook. Toolkits include step-by-step guides for developing business ideas, planning sustainable rural enterprises, and implementing green practices. Checklists are offered for key activities such as needs assessments, business model development, marketing planning, and monitoring environmental impact. These tools are designed to simplify complex processes, ensure critical steps are not missed, and help users translate theory into effective action in real-world rural contexts.

Digital Tools and Platforms

Recognizing the importance of digital transformation in rural entrepreneurship, this section introduces a curated selection of digital tools and platforms relevant to the project's themes. Resources include e-learning platforms, business planning software, digital marketing tools, social media management apps, and virtual collaboration environments. Guidance is provided on how to select and use these tools effectively, with special attention to accessibility for rural users and integration into VET curricula. The section also highlights digital solutions developed within the project, such as online modules and interactive webinars, to foster ongoing learning and collaboration among stakeholders.

Additional Reading and References

To encourage further exploration and support evidence-based practice, this section compiles a list of recommended readings, academic articles, policy documents, and online resources related to green rural entrepreneurship, sustainable development, and VET innovation. References are organized by topic and include both foundational texts and the latest research, as well as links to relevant European and international initiatives. This curated bibliography enables users to deepen their understanding, stay updated on emerging trends, and connect with broader networks and knowledge communities in the field.

9. Implementation Guidelines

Integrating Modules into VET Curricula

Successful integration of the developed modules into existing VET curricula requires alignment with national and regional education standards, as well as flexibility to adapt to local contexts. Educators and institutions are encouraged to map the modules against current course offerings, identify complementary areas, and embed the modules either as standalone units or as part of broader interdisciplinary programs. Collaboration with curriculum developers, local authorities, and industry partners can further facilitate smooth adoption and ensure the modules address real-world needs in rural entrepreneurship and sustainability.



Facilitating Learner Engagement

To maximize impact, the E4GRD Handbook emphasizes active and inclusive learner engagement. Educators are encouraged to use experiential and problem-based learning methods, involving learners in real-life projects, case studies, and community-based activities. The use of digital tools, blended learning formats, and interactive assignments helps cater to diverse learning styles and increases accessibility, particularly for learners in remote or marginalized rural settings. Regular feedback, peer collaboration, and opportunities for self-reflection are also recommended to foster motivation, critical thinking, and a sense of ownership over the learning process.

Monitoring and Evaluation

Ongoing monitoring and evaluation are essential for ensuring the quality, relevance, and effectiveness of the modules. The E4GRD Handbook provides guidance on setting clear learning outcomes, designing formative and summative assessments, and collecting feedback from both learners and educators. Evaluation methods may include surveys, interviews, reflective journals, and practical demonstrations of entrepreneurial skills. Data collected should be used to refine module content, teaching methods, and support mechanisms, ensuring continuous improvement and alignment with evolving needs in rural entrepreneurship education.

10. Dissemination and Outreach

Strategies for Sharing Results

A comprehensive dissemination strategy is essential to maximize the visibility and impact of project results. The project utilizes a multi-channel approach, including the project website, social media platforms, newsletters, webinars, and public events to reach educators, entrepreneurs, policy-makers, and the wider community. Regular updates, press releases, and digital publications ensure that outcomes such as the E4GRD Handbook, modules, and case studies are accessible and engaging. Internal sharing among partners is supported by an online platform for document exchange and collaboration, while external dissemination is reinforced through targeted outreach to VET institutions, rural networks, and relevant stakeholders at local, national, and European levels.

Building Networks and Partnerships

The project places strong emphasis on building and sustaining networks among VET providers, rural enterprises, community organizations, and policy-makers. By fostering partnerships within and beyond the consortium, the project encourages knowledge exchange, joint initiatives, and the sharing of best practices. Participation in conferences, workshops, and sectoral networks further extends the project's reach and facilitates the creation of clusters for ongoing collaboration and mutual support. These networks are designed to outlast the project's duration and serve as platforms for future innovation and capacity building in green rural entrepreneurship.

Sustainability and Long-term Impact

Sustainability is embedded in the project's design from the outset. A dedicated sustainability plan outlines measures to ensure continued use, adaptation, and further development of project outputs after funding ends. This includes capacity building for partner organizations, open access to resources, and integration of modules into existing VET curricula. By equipping educators and rural stakeholders with practical tools and fostering a culture of collaboration, the project aims to generate lasting benefits—empowering rural communities, supporting green transition, and promoting inclusive growth across Europe. Continuous evaluation, feedback mechanisms, and the cultivation of strategic alliances will help maintain momentum and support long-term impact.



